

Carbohydrate RESEARCH

Carbohydrate Research 343 (2008) 1540-1552

#### Review

# C-5 Modifications in *N*-acetyl-neuraminic acid: scope and limitations

### Cristina De Meo\* and Uvege Priyadarshani

Department of Chemistry, Southern Illinois University Edwardsville, Edwardsville, IL 62026, USA

Received 21 February 2008; received in revised form 2 April 2008; accepted 6 April 2008

Available online 10 April 2008

Abstract—Glycoconjugates containing sialic acid are involved in a large variety of biological phenomena, including cell–cell adhesion, recognition by viruses and bacteria, and oncogenesis. Therefore, they are important synthetic targets for the design of drugs and vaccines. In the last decades, different methodologies that improve yield and stereoselectivity in sialylation reactions have been investigated. This review summarizes the latest developments in the synthesis of C-5 modified sialic acid glycosyl donors and glycosyl acceptors and their application in the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -sialosides.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Sialylation; Amino protecting groups; Glycosylation; Stereoselectivity

#### **Contents**

1.	Introduction	1540
2.	Acetamido deprotection methods: an overview	1542
3.	N-Acetylacetamido (NAc <sub>2</sub> )	1542
4.	Azido (N <sub>3</sub> )	1544
5.	Trifluoroacetamido (NHTFA)	1545
6.	Trichloroethoxycarbonyl (NHTroc)	1540
7.	5-N,4-O-oxazolidinone group and its N-acetylated version	1548
8.	Miscellaneous substituents	1549
9.	Conclusions	1550
	References	155

#### 1. Introduction

Glycoconjugates containing sialic acid are important synthetic targets due to their active participation in a wide variety of biological phenomena, ranging from cell–cell adhesion and recognition, to pathogen attack and oncogenesis. <sup>1-4</sup> The most widespread sialic acid is N-acetyl-neuraminic acid (Neu5Ac, Fig. 1), which is naturally found  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3) or  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6)-linked to galactose

and  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6)-linked to *N*-acetyl-galactosamine (e.g.,  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 3)-Gal,  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 6)-Gal, and  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 6)-GalNAc). The disialosyl structures  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 8)-Neu5Ac and  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 9)-Neu5Ac have also been found as constituents of glycoproteins and glycolipids (Fig. 1).<sup>2</sup>

The stereoselective synthesis of  $\alpha$ -sialosides in high yield is extremely challenging mainly due to the destabilizing presence of the C-1 carboxylic group and to the lack of a hydroxyl group at C-3. Thus, upon the departure of the leaving group, the resulting carbocation is not assisted by a stereocontrolling neighboring group and therefore an anomeric mixture is often produced.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 618 650 3170; e-mail: cdemeo@siue.edu

Figure 1. N-Acetyl-neuraminic acid and its natural linkages.

Scheme 1. General mechanism of sialylation reactions.

Figure 2. Proposed H-bonds of 8-OH.

In addition, competition with E1 elimination and nucleophilic attack of water (hydrolysis) are other factors that decrease the overall yield (Scheme 1). The synthesis of the disialosyl structure  $\alpha$ -Neu5Ac-(2 $\rightarrow$ 8)-Neu5Ac link-

ages is further complicated by the low reactivity of the hydroxyl group at C-8 in the sialosyl acceptor, which has been related to its involvement in H-bonds (Fig. 2). <sup>5-8</sup>

**Scheme 2.** Reagents and conditions: (a) Ba(OH)<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, 90 °C, 19 h or NaOH, 100 °C, 48 h; (b) MsOH, MeOH, 65 °C, 24 h.

To improve the glycosylation outcome toward the desired α-anomer, different strategies have been proposed in the past decades, including varying the nature of the leaving group, solvent, and promoters. Structurally modified derivatives at C-1, C-3, and C-5 have been also investigated. 9-13 This review summarizes the most recent developments in the C-5 modification strategies for the synthesis of α-sialosides, and discusses their advantages and disadvantages. A detailed description of the following C-5 structural modifications is provided: N-acetylacetamido (NAc2), azido (N3), N-trifluoroacetyl (NHTFA); N-trichloroethoxycarbonyl (NHTroc), 5-N,4-O-oxazolidinone and its N-acetylated version. The last part of the review is dedicated to very recent or less exploited developments: the use of 1,5-lactams, 5-N-t-butoxycarbonylacetamido (NAcBoc), phthalimido (NPhth) and 5-N,7-O-oxazinone groups.

#### 2. Acetamido deprotection methods: an overview

The majority of the N-modifications investigated requires a complete deprotection of the natural acetamido

**Scheme 3.** Reagents and conditions: (a) CH<sub>2</sub>=C(CH<sub>3</sub>)OAc, TsOH, 65 °C, 99%; (b) (i) MeONa, MeOH; (ii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine.

group to yield a free amine. The removal of the 5-N acetyl group can be accomplished under basic (hydrazine<sup>14,15</sup> sodium<sup>16</sup> or barium<sup>17</sup> hydroxide) or acidic conditions (methanesulfonic acid). In general, both conditions offer high yields of the deprotected product ( $\sim$ 70–90%); however, deprotection in acidic media offers the advantage of maintaining the methyl ester functionality (if present), which is otherwise lost in the presence of a base (Scheme 2).

#### 3. N-Acetylacetamido (NAc<sub>2</sub>)

The introduction of an additional acetyl group is undoubtedly the most straightforward and simple procedure of all investigated C-5 modifications, as neither N-acetylation nor N-deacetylation requires additional synthetic steps for protecting group manipulations. The additional acetyl group at the C-5 position can, in fact, be easily introduced directly from the fully deprotected Neu5Ac with concomitant O-acetylation (or from the N-monoacetylated donor 1). It is removed under Zémplen deacetylation conditions with concomitant Oacetyl group removal (Scheme 3). The higher reactivity of methylthio 5-N-acetylacetamido derivative 2, in comparison to the corresponding mono-N-acetylated donor 1, was initially reported by Boons and Demchenko for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3)-linked disaccharides and  $\alpha$ - $(2\rightarrow 8)$ -linked dimers.  $^{19,20}$ 

Scheme 4. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C.

Scheme 5. Reagents and conditions: (a) AgOTf, MeSBr, MS 3 Å, MeCN, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -45 °C; (b) Ph<sub>2</sub>SO, TTBP, Tf<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C.

Thus, when sialosyl donor 2 was coupled with galactosyl acceptor 3, the desired disaccharide 4 was obtained in less than 5 min in 72% yield, whereas the monoacetylated donor 1 gave the corresponding disaccharide 5 in 61% yield after a much longer reaction time (2-6 h, Scheme 4). Acetylation of the acetamido group at C-5 has been also used for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 8) dimeric linkages, which are complicated by the low reactivity of the acceptor, as mentioned above. Thus, when sialosyl donor 1 was coupled with sialosyl acceptor 6, also bearing an acetylacetamido group at C-5, the desired dimer 7 was obtained in 50% yield as 2:1  $\alpha/\beta$  anomeric mixture. Similar glycosylations using common 5-acetamido donors and acceptors gave low yield of the product, 21 suggesting an important role of the C-5 protecting group also in the reactivity of sialosyl acceptors. In this respect, it has been proposed that the reactivity of the C-8 hydroxyl is inversely correlated to the basicity of nitrogen at C-5. Thus, electron withdrawing substituents at the C-5 amino group would weaken the H-bond with 8-OH, increasing therefore its nucleophilicity (Fig. 2).<sup>22</sup>

Modification at C-5 such as NAc<sub>2</sub> has been used in combination with other synthetic strategies such as C-3 modifications (indirect sialylation) and promoter investigations.<sup>23–25</sup> For example, ethylthio-3-thio-

Scheme 6. Reagents and conditions: (a) (16a) (i) KOH, EtOH; (ii) TfN<sub>3</sub>, DMAP; (iii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine; (iv) CH<sub>2</sub>N<sub>2</sub>, 63% overall yield; (b) (16b): (i) MsOH, MeOH, 55%; (ii) TfN<sub>3</sub>, CuSO<sub>4</sub>·5H<sub>2</sub>O, MeOH; (iii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine, 66% over two steps.

phenyl-5-*N*-acetylacetamido donor **8** gave higher yields than the corresponding monoacetylated donor **9** with a series of different glycosyl acceptors. In particular, sialylation of **8** with glycosyl acceptor **10** gave the  $\alpha$  dimer **11** in 44% yield, whereas the corresponding monoacetylated counterpart **9** gave the  $\alpha$ -linked dimer **12** in 28% yield (Scheme 5).<sup>23,24</sup> More recently, high yields were reported when sialosyl donor **13** was coupled with different acceptors using the Ph<sub>2</sub>SO-TTBP-Tf<sub>2</sub>O promoter system. For example, coupling of **13** with galactosyl acceptor **14** gave the desired disaccharide **15** in 92% yield as the  $\alpha$ -anomer only.<sup>25</sup>

Scheme 7. Reagents and conditions: NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C.

17b + 
$$\frac{OAC}{N_3}$$
 COOMe  $\frac{ACO}{ACO}$  COOMe  $\frac{ACO}{N_3}$  COOMe

Scheme 8. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C; (b) TMSOTf, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C; (c) (i) NaOMe, MeOH; (ii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, Py.

#### 4. Azido (N<sub>3</sub>)

Conversion of the C-5 position of *N*-acetyl-neuraminic acid into an azido (N<sub>3</sub>) group has been accomplished by enzymatic<sup>26–30</sup> and chemical methods.<sup>31–34</sup> In general, enzymatic synthesis of 5-azido sialic acid can be accomplished by treatment of the 2-azido-2-deoxy mannose precursor in the presence of sodium pyruvate and *N*-acetyl-neuraminic acid aldolase. As example of chemical methods, it is possible to convert thiosialosyl donors **16a,b** in azido-bearing donors **17a,b** using trifluoromethanesulfonyl azide (triflic azide, TfN<sub>3</sub>) as the diazo transfer reagent (Scheme 6).<sup>32,33,35</sup> Removal of the azido group can be accomplished by catalytic hydrogenolysis to give a free amine that can be further derivatized.<sup>36,37</sup>

The higher stereocontrol of azido-bearing sialyl donor 17b has been demonstrated by coupling with glycosyl acceptor 18 for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages, obtaining the desired disaccharide 19 in 53% yield as 10:1  $\alpha/\beta$  mixture. Similar glycosylation using C-5 acet-

amido thiomethyl donor 1 gave the corresponding disaccharide 20 as 1:1.25  $\alpha/\beta$  mixture (Scheme 7).

Higher stereoselectivities have also been reported for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ - $(2\rightarrow 9)$  dimers. Thus, coupling of sialosyl donor 17b with sialosyl acceptor 21 also bearing  $N_3$  at C-5 gave the desired  $(2\rightarrow 9)$  linked dimer 22 in 65% yield as the  $\alpha$ -anomer only (Scheme 8). Similarly, selective activation of phosphite donor 23 over thioglycoside acceptor 24 gave disaccharide 25 in 51% yield as the  $\alpha$  anomer only. Protecting group manipulations converted 25 into the fully acetylated glycosyl donor 26, which was coupled with glycosyl acceptor 21 to give trimer 27 in 45% yield with complete stereoselectivity.

Similar results have been reported using 5-azido sialyl fluoride donor. 38 Unfortunately, the azido group's higher control on stereoselectivity in glycosylation reactions is also associated with a deactivating effect when compared to the acetamido counterpart. This effect becomes more prominent for the coupling with sterically hindered and/or less reactive secondary acceptors, such as

Scheme 9. Reagents and conditions: (a) (i) MsOH, MeOH, 65 °C; (ii) CF<sub>3</sub>COOMe, Et<sub>3</sub>N, MeOH; (iii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine.

Scheme 10. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS3 Å, MeCN, -35 °C.

the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3) galactosyl derivatives and  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 8) dimers. For the latter, the coupling between a 5-azido perbenzylated thioglycoside donor and a 5-azido sialyl acceptor did not give any dimeric product.<sup>39</sup>

#### 5. Trifluoroacetamido (NHTFA)

The introduction of a trifluoroacetyl group can be accomplished by complete deprotection in acidic conditions followed by selective N-acylation with methyl trifluoroacetate in the presence of triethylamine and O-acetylation. Thus, conversion of sialosyl donor 1 into 5-trifluoroacetamido donor 28 was accomplished in three steps in 73% yield (Scheme 9). The removal of the TFA group can be performed under basic conditions in the presence of sodium hydroxide. 22

For the synthesis of an  $\alpha$ - $(2\rightarrow 3)$  glycosyl linkage, trifluoroacetyl-modified sialyl donors gave high yields and stereoselectivities when coupled with hindered glycosyl acceptors. For example, sialosyl donor 28 was coupled with glycosyl acceptor 29 to give the desired disaccharide 30 in 84% yield as the  $\alpha$ -anomer. Similar

results were obtained by coupling 28 with galactosyl acceptor 31 (Scheme 10). On the other hand, when 28 was coupled with more reactive/less hindered secondary acceptors or primary acceptors, a decrease in regioselectivity and stereoselectivity was also observed.<sup>41</sup>

Perhaps the most efficient application of trifluoroace-tamido modification is to the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 8) and  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 9) linked dimers. Thus, coupling of sialosyl donor **28** with sialosyl acceptor **33** also bearing at C-5 a trifluoroacetamido group, gave dimer **34** as only the  $\alpha$ -anomer in 55% yield. Additional improvement was observed when 1,5-lactam acceptor **36** was coupled with thiophenyl donor **35**. As a result, the corresponding  $\alpha$ -anomer **37** was obtained with a remarkable yield of 71% (Scheme 11).

TFA-modification has been also applied to the selective coupling of phosphite donor **38** with thiosialosyl acceptor **39** for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 9) oligomers (Scheme 12).<sup>45</sup> Also in this case, higher degree of  $\alpha$ -anomeric selectivity as compared to conventional sialyl donors was detected. Thus, *N*-TFA phosphite donor **38** was coupled with *N*-TFA thioglycoside acceptor **39** thereby leading to the  $\alpha$ -linked dimer **40** with 77% yield.

Scheme 11. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS3 Å, MeCN, -35 °C; (b) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, EtCN, -80 °C.

Scheme 12. Reagents and conditions: (a) TMSOTf, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C; (b) (i) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine; (ii) NBS, acetone, H<sub>2</sub>O; (c) 1*H*-tetrazole, dibenzyl *N*,*N*-diisopropylphosphoramidite, MeCN.

The STol moiety of **40** was then replaced with phosphite. By iterating these coupling-reprotection steps, higher-order oligomeric sialosides were obtained in high yields (Scheme 12).

#### 6. Trichloroethoxycarbonyl (NHTroc)

The introduction of trichloroethoxycarbonyl group at C-5 has been described by Wu and co-workers<sup>46</sup> and Kiso and co-workers<sup>47</sup> via deprotection of the *N*-acetyl

phenylthioglycoside derivative **46** under acidic conditions and selective N-protection using succinimidyl 2,2,2-trichloroethyl carbonate or trichloroethylchloroformate, respectively (Scheme 13). Conversion of *N*-Troc derivatives into the corresponding free amine can be easily accomplished in the presence of zinc in acetic acid. <sup>47</sup>

The higher reactivity of **47** in comparison with C-5 acetamido donor **46** was first noticed by Kiso and co-workers <sup>47</sup> in the coupling with galactosyl acceptor **48**, obtaining initially a decrease in stereoselectivity

Scheme 13. Reagents and conditions: (a) (i) MsOH, MeOH; (ii) TrocSu, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 77% (2 steps); (iii) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine, 94%; <sup>46</sup>(b) (i) MsOH, MeOH; (ii) TrocCl, Et<sub>3</sub>N, MeOH; (iii)Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine, 68% (three steps). <sup>47</sup>

Scheme 14. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS3 Å, for 46 (a): MeCN-CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -25 °C; for 47, EtCN, -50 °C.

Scheme 15. Reagents and conditions: (a) 47, 51, NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -35 °C; then 52, NIS, TfOH,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , -30 °C; (b) TMSOTf, MS 3 Å,  $CH_2Cl_2$ -MeCN (2:3), -78 °C.

 $(\alpha:\beta 5.4:1 \text{ for } 50 \text{ in } 20 \text{ min} \text{ vs only } \alpha \text{ for } 49 \text{ after } 16 \text{ h}).$  However, an improvement in the stereoselectivity was

**Scheme 16.** Reagents and conditions: (a) MsOH, MeOH, 65 °C, 80%; (b) NPCC, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, MeCN, H<sub>2</sub>O, 3 h, 80%; (c) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyridine, 16 h, 90%; (d) DIPEA, AcCl, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 94%.

recently reported and the desired disaccharide 50 was obtained as the  $\alpha$ -anomer in 52% yield (Scheme 14).  $^{48}$ 

The applicability of the *N*-Troc modification for a different class of sialyl donors has been reported by Takahashi and co-workers for the synthesis of the  $\alpha$ - $(2\rightarrow 6)$ -sialyl T antigen by one-pot glycosylation and the synthesis of  $\alpha$ - $(2\rightarrow 8)$ -linked dimers using *N*-phenyl trifluoroacetimidate as a leaving group (Scheme 15). <sup>49,50</sup> Thus, coupling of sialosyl donor 47 with glycosyl acceptor 51 and in situ addition of donor 52 gave 2,6-sialyl T antigen trisaccharide 53 in 77% overall yield (Scheme 15). <sup>51</sup> Similarly, coupling of *N*-phenyl trifluoro-

Scheme 17. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C; (b) thiourea, 2,6-lutidine, DMF, 70 °C.

acetimidoyl donor **54** with glycosyl acceptor **55** for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 8) linkages gave the dimeric product **56** in 55% yield as a 5:1  $\alpha/\beta$  anomeric mixture. <sup>50</sup> More recently, Seeberger and co-workers, described the synthesis of sialyl Lewis X and sialylated glycans having  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3) and  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages, using *N*-Troc modified thiophenyl and phosphite sialosyl donors. <sup>52,53</sup>

## 7. 5-N,4-O-oxazolidinone group and its N-acetylated version

Modification at C-5 of thiophenyl sialosyl donor **46** by introduction of a trans-fused oxazolidinone ring can be accomplished by deprotection in acidic medium followed by N-functionalization by treatment with *p*-nitrophenylchloroformate (NPCC), and then O-acetylation to afford glycosyl donor **57**. <sup>54</sup> Additionally N-acetyla-

tion of **57** with acetyl chloride in diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) leads to compound **58** in 94% yield (Scheme 16). From the presence of a strong base, such as barium or lithium hydroxide, to yield a free amine. And the N-acetylated version 58 offers the advantage of removal under milder basic conditions in the presence of sodium methoxide in methanol.

The first to evaluate the proprieties of oxazolidinone protecting group in sialylations were Takahashi and co-workers <sup>56</sup> for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 8)-sialic acid oligomers. Thus, coupling of oxazolidinone protected sialosyl donor **59** with sialosyl acceptor **60**, also bearing a C-5 oxazolidinone protection, gave the desired dimer **61** with a remarkable yield of 86% as the  $\alpha$  anomer. Selective deprotection to afford the free 8-OH gave **62** as glycosyl acceptor, which was coupled with glycosyl donor **59** to allow trimer **63** in 89% yield with complete

Scheme 18. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, MeCN, -40 °C; (b) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>-MeCN (1:1), -78 °C.

OAC COOMe ACBOCN 
$$OAC$$
 COOMe ACBOCN  $OAC$   $OAC$   $OAC$  COOMe ACBOCN  $OAC$   $OAC$ 

Scheme 19. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, CPME, -40 °C; (b) Ph<sub>2</sub>SO, Tf<sub>2</sub>O, TTBP, MS 4 Å, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C.

stereoselectivity. The iterative deprotection and coupling gave tetrasaccharide **64** as  $\alpha$ -anomer only in 57% yield (Scheme 17). Similar results were also obtained for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 9) dimers.<sup>56</sup>

For the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3) and  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages to galactose, sialosyl donors 57<sup>54</sup> and 58<sup>55</sup> were coupled with a wide range of glycosyl acceptors. Thus, for the coupling of primary acceptors and alcohols high yields and stereoselectivities were observed for both donors. For example, coupling of 57 with galactosyl acceptor 65 gave the desired disaccharide 66 as a 10:1  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  anomeric mixture in 90% yield (Scheme 18). Similar results were observed for the N-acetylated donor 58, suggesting that in this case the additional acetyl group does not influence the glycosylation outcome. An improvement of the methodology has been reported by Crich with the

use of 1-adamantyl thiosialosyl donor **68**, and disaccharide **69** was obtained in this case as only the  $\alpha$  anomer.<sup>57</sup>

#### 8. Miscellaneous substituents

Modifications of the C-5 acetyl group into other conventional protecting groups, such as *N-t*-butyloxycarbonyl (Boc), <sup>17</sup> *N*-benzyloxycarbonyl (Cbz,Z), <sup>58</sup> phthalimido (NPhth), <sup>59–61</sup> and *N-t*-butyloxycarbonylacetamido (NAcBoc) <sup>62,63</sup> as well as into less conventional polycyclic compounds, such as 1,5 lactam <sup>44</sup> (as sialosyl acceptor) and 5,7-*N*,*O* oxazinanone protected sialosyl donor <sup>64</sup> have been recently reported. For example, combination of NAcBoc modification and laurylthiol leaving group as in sialosyl donor **70** gave quantitative yield when cou-

Scheme 20. Reagents and conditions: (a) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, EtCN, -80 °C; (b) CbzOSu, DMAP, pyridine, 79%; (c) (i) Et<sub>3</sub>N, H<sub>2</sub>O, MeCN, 40 °C; (ii) MeI, K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, DMF, 79%; (d) Zn, AcOH, THF, 94%; (e) LevOH, DCC, DMAP, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 95%; (f) NIS, TfOH, MS 3 Å, EtCN, -80→-60 °C.

Scheme 21. Reagents and conditions: (a) TMOTf, MS 4 Å, EtCN, -78 °C.

pled with acceptor **65** (Scheme 19).<sup>63</sup> A dramatic decrease in stereoselectivity has been reported in the case of C-5 modification as 5,7-N,O oxazinanone group. For example, coupling of sialosyl donor **72** with acceptor **73** gave compound **74** in 81% yield as the unnatural β-anomer (Scheme 19).

Activation of the 8-OH in a sialosyl acceptor has been reported by modification into 1,5-lactam **36** (Scheme 11 and 20). Thus, thiophenyl sialosyl donor **47** gave 49% of the  $\alpha$ -anomer when coupled with glycosyl acceptor **36**, while only traces of the desired dimer were observed without the conformational strain of the lactam. Conversion of compound **75** into *N*-Cbz protected and lactam ring opening gave dimer **77** as glycosyl donor. Subsequent protecting group manipulations and glycosylation of glycosyl donor **79** with glucosyl acceptor **80** gave trisaccharide **81** in 66% overall yield.

High yields and stereoselectivities have been reported by Fukase and co-workers  $^{60,61}$  when *N*-phthaloyl protected sialosyl donor **82** was coupled with acceptor **83** for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages. Thus, disaccharide **84** was obtained in 92% yield as the  $\alpha$ -anomer only. Similar results were obtained for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 3) linkages by coupling **82** with acceptor **85** (Scheme 21).

#### 9. Conclusions

Although it is clear that modifications at the C-5 position of *N*-acetyl-neuraminic acid influences reactivity and stereoselectivity in glycosylation reactions, each

**Table 2.** Comparison of glycosidations of different N-protected thioglycosides with **87**<sup>51</sup>

Entry	Donor	Yield	α/β ratio
1	46	47	6:1
2	47	91	8:1
3	13	65	2:1
4	88	68	5:1
5	89	_	_
6	90	44	7:1
7	91	91	6:1
8	35	92	11:1
9	92	83	10:1

protecting group has to be selected based on the nature of the desired glycosidic bond, for example  $(2\rightarrow 3)$  and  $(2\rightarrow 6)$ , as well as the nature of the glycosyl acceptor (e.g., protecting groups). In addition, the glycosylation yields and stereoselectivities have to compensate for the number of added steps required for the protection and deprotection.

For its easy introduction and removal, N-acetylacetamido can be the modification of choice for primary acceptors and some secondary acceptors. High yields and stereoselectivities can be accomplished with less reactive acceptors by using the trifluoroacetamido group, while the azido group can be a suitable choice when the coupling with primary alcohols is desired. Trichloroethoxycarbonyl allows an efficient armed—disarmed approach for the synthesis of  $(2\rightarrow 9)$  dimers, but in general gives lower yields and stereoselectivities than the azido and trifluoroacetamido approaches (Table 1). The oxazolidinone protection is clearly one of the best

Table 1. Summary of various C-5 modified Neu5Ac donors

C-5 modification	Advantages	Suitable for
$Ac_2$	Easy introduction and removal by Zemplen deacetylation	Primary alcohols
$N_3$	Can be removed in the presence of acetyl groups	Primary alcohols
TFA	High yields and stereoselectivities observed with a wide range of acceptors	Hindered, less reactive alcohols
Troc	Can be removed in the presence of acyl groups and acid/base labile groups, such as amino acids	Armed-disarmed approach
5-N,4-O-oxazolidinone	High yields and stereoselectivities observed with a wide range of acceptors	Primary acceptors, dimers synthesis

Scheme 22. Reagents: NIS, TfOH, MS3 Å, MeCN.

Scheme 23. Possible explanation of the change of reactivity order observed in competitive glycosylations.

modification for the synthesis of  $\alpha(2\rightarrow 8)$  dimers, as well as some primary acceptors, while it is not so activating and stereocontrolling for the secondary galactosyl acceptors (Table 1).

It has been proposed that the reactivity of C-5 modified sialosyl donors is inversely correlated to the nitrogen nucleophilicity, which is decreased when electron withdrawing groups are present. This factor might explain the reactivity increase in the following sequence: acetamido < acetylacetamido < trifluoroacetamido. On the other hand, another set of competitive glycosylation data suggests a different order of reactivity, according to which the acetylacetamido derivative is more reactive than its trifluoroacetamido counterpart. 47 For the azido derivatives, the high stereoselectivity was also attributed to steric and electronic effects, considering the electronwithdrawing and linear character of the azido group. On the other hand, the higher reactivity and its stereocontrol of N-phthalimido sialosyl donor has been related to the presence of a fixed dipole stabilizing effect.<sup>61</sup>

Comparative study of the glycosidation of differently N-protected thioglycosides with methyl glucoside 87 was reported by Tahashashi et al. (Scheme 22 and Table 2).<sup>51</sup> Based on these results, sialosyl donors bearing *N*-Troc (47, entry 2), *N*-TFA (35, entry 8), and *N*-trichloroacetate (92, entry 9) gave the best yields and stereoselectivity. Another interesting set of comparison data has been provided by Fukase and co-workers.<sup>61</sup>

Based on the aforesaid, the relative order of reactivity of C-5 modified derivatives is not so straightforward, and a possible explanation for these contradicting data has been offered by Kononov et al.<sup>65</sup> Based on these

studies, the low reactivity of acetamido donor was explained by its ability to form H-bond aggregates (Scheme 23a). In a mixture of NAc<sub>2</sub> and NHAc, the reactivity of NHAc donor is now relative to the presence of the other sially donor and its ability to make H-bonds (Scheme 23b). According to this scenario, an acetamido donor can be more reactive in the presence of *N*-acetylacetamido donor than alone.

All the groups described herein offer advantages and disadvantages for specific building blocks, and therefore the choice of the C-5 modification to be used is mainly dependent of the nature of the glycosyl acceptor and its protecting groups. It is clear that a better understanding of the influence of the C-5 position in sialic acid chemistry is a key factor for the design of a versatile approach that would give the highest performance regardless of the nature of the glycosyl acceptor, donor, promoter or the type of glycosidic bond to be synthesized.

#### References

- 1. Kelm, S.; Schauer, R. Int. Rev. Cytol. 1997, 175, 137-240.
- 2. Schauer, R. Sialic Acids: Chemistry, Metabolism and Function: New York, 1982; Vol. 10.
- 3. Schauer, R. Glycoconjugate J. 2000, 17, 495-499.
- 4. Rosenberg, A. *Biology of Sialic Acids*; Plenum Press: New York, London, 1995.
- Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8583–8586.
- Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Schneider, R.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6837–6840.

- Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Schmidt, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5434–5440.
- 8. Schmidt, R. R.; Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Retz, O. Pure Appl. Chem. 1999, 17, 729-744.
- Boons, G. J.; Demchenko, A. V. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4539–4565.
- Boons, GJG. J.; Demchenko, A. V. In *Carbohydrate-Based Drug Discovery*; Wong, C.-H., Ed.; Wiley, 2003; pp 55–102.
- Ress, D. K.; Linhardt, R. J. Curr. Org. Synth. 2004, 1, 31–46.
- 12. De Meo, C.; Boons, G. J.; Demchenko, A. V. In *Comprehensive Glycoscience—From Chemistry to Systems Biology*; Kamerling, J. P., Ed.; 2007.
- 13. De Meo, C. ACS Symp. Ser. 2007, 960, 118–134.
- Schreiner, E.; Zbiral, E.; Kleineidam, R. G.; Schauer, R. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 216, 61-66.
- Simeoni, L. A.; Bairamova, N. E.; Bovin, N. V. Russ. J. Bioorg. Chem. 1996, 22, 513-519.
- Gervay, J.; Flaherty, T. M.; Nguyen, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1493–1496.
- Fujita, S.; Numata, M.; Sugimoto, M.; Tomita, K.; Ogawa, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 228, 347–370.
- Sugata, T.; Kan, Y.; Nagaregawa, Y.; Miyamoto, T.; Higuchi, R. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 917–925.
- Demchenko, A. V.; Boons, G. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3065–3068.
- Demchenko, A. V.; Boons, G. J. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 1278–1283.
- Kanie, O.; Kiso, M.; Hasegawa, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1988, 7, 501–506.
- De Meo, C.; Demchenko, A. V.; Boons, G. J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 5490–5497.
- Hossain, N.; Magnusson, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2217–2220.
- Hossain, N.; Zapate, A.; Wilstermann, M.; Nilsson, U. J.; Magnusson, G. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 569–580.
- 25. Crich, D.; Wenju, L. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 959-962.
- Auge', C.; Bouxan, B.; Cavaye', B.; Gautheron, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 30, 2217–2220.
- Auge', C.; David, S.; Malleron, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 188, 201–205.
- Schrell, A.; Whitesides, G. M. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1990, 1111–1114.
- 29. Wong, C. H.; Lin, C.-H. PCT Int. Appl. 1993, 41-43.
- Kragl, U.; Godde, A.; Andrey, C.; Kinzy, W.; Cappon, J. J.; Lugtenburg, J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1993, 6, 1193–1202.
- Schreiner, E.; Zbiral, E. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1990, 581– 586.
- 32. Schneider, R.; Freyhardt, C. C.; Schmidt, R. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 1655–1661.
- 33. Yu, C.-S.; Niikura, K.; Lin, C.-C.; Wong, C. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2900–2903.
- Voight, E. A.; Rein, C.; Burke, S. D. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 8489–8499.
- Recently, Stick et al. reported a safe method for diazotation, not yet applied to sialic acid: Goddard-Borger, E. D.; Stick, R. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3797–3800.

- Danishefsky, S. J.; DeNinno, M. P. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 2615–2617.
- Danishefsky, S. J.; DeNinno, M. P.; Chen, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3929–3940.
- 38. Mukaiyama, T.; Mandai, H.; Jona, H. *Chem. Lett.* **2002**, *12*, 1182–1183.
- Lu, K.-C.; Tseng, S.-Y.; Lin, C.-C. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 755–760.
- Byramova, N. E.; Tuzikov, A. B.; Bovin, N. V. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 237, 161–175.
- 41. De Meo, C.; Demchenko, A. V.; Boons, G. J. Aust. J. Chem. 2002, 55, 131–134.
- Meijer, A.; Ellervik, U. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6249–6256.
- 43. Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Nifantiev, N. E. Synlett 2005, 1375–1380.
- 44. Ando, H.; Koike, Y.; Koizumi, S.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 2–7.
- Lin, C.-C.; Huang, K. T.; Lin, C.-C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4169–4172.
- 46. Ren, C. T.; Chen, C. S.; Wu, S. H. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1376–1379.
- 47. Ando, H.; Koike, Y.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6883–6886.
- 48. Fuse, T.; Ando, H.; Imamura, A.; Sawada, N.; Ishida, H.; Kiso, M.; Ando, T.; Li, S.-C.; Li, Y.-T. *Glycoconjugate J.* **2006**, *23*, 329–343.
- Adachi, M.; Tanaka, H.; Takahashi, T. Synlett 2004, 609– 614
- Tanaka, H.; Nishiura, Y.; Adachi, M.; Takahashi, T. *Heterocycles* 2006, 67, 107–112.
- Tanaka, H.; Adachi, M.; Takahashi, T. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 849–862.
- Hanashima, S.; Castagner, B.; Esposito, D.; Nokami, T.;
   Seeberger, P. H. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 1777–1779.
- Hanashima, S.; Seeberger, P. Chem. Asian J. 2007, 2, 1447–1459.
- Farris, M. D.; De Meo, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1225–1227.
- 55. Crich, D.; Li, W. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 2387-2391.
- Tanaka, H.; Nishiura, Y.; Takahashi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 7124–7125.
- 57. Crich, D.; Li, W. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7794-7797.
- Sparks, M. A.; Williams, K. W.; Lukacs, C.; Schrell, A.; Priebe, G.; Spaltenstein, A.; Whitesides, G. M. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 1–12.
- 59. Fujita, S.; Numata, M.; Sugimoto, M.; Tomita, K.; Ogawa, T. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1994**, *263*, 181–196.
- 60. Tanaka, S.; Takashi, G.; Tanaka, K.; Fukase, K. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2007**, *26*, 369–394.
- Tanaka, K.; Takashi, G.; Fukase, K. Synlett 2005, 2958– 2962.
- Sherman, A. A.; Yudina, O. N.; Shashkov, A. S.; Menshov, V. M.; Nifant'ev, N. E. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2001, 330, 445–458.
- 63. Ikeda, K.; Miyamoto, K.; Sato, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, *48*, 7431–7435.
- 64. Crich, D.; Wu, B. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 2042-2047.
- Kononov, L.; Malysheva, N.; Kononova, E.; Garkusha,
   O. Russ. Chem. Bull. 2006, 55, 1311–1313.